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The Honourable Artillery Company ï From its Origins to the Restoration.  Part  1 
 
The origins of The Honourable Artillery Company are somewhat confusing. What is certain is 
that on 25th August 1537, King Henry VIII granted a Charter of Incorporation to a Guild or 
Fraternity of Saint George. However, it is the ambiguity of the wording of the Charter which 
casts uncertainty as to whether the Guild of St George was already in existence and was 

receiving Royal support or whether the 
Charter was creating a completely new 
institution. 
 
No regimental records exist of the early 
times of the Company but in the mid-
twentieth century the original lease of the 
Old Artillery Ground in Bishopsgate came 
into the Companyôs possession. The lease 
was granted to the Company by William, 
Prior of the Convent and Hospital of St 
Mary Without Bishopsgate, on 3rd January 
1538, some five months after the 
incorporation of the Company. The lease is 
the counter-part and bears the common 
seal of the Company. About a quarter of 
the seal is intact, but sufficient remains to 
show on one side the royal arms of Henry 
VIII with a griffin or wyvern as a supporter 
and on the obverse a shield bearing a 
cross of St George in the centre of which a 
portion of a lion passant can be discerned 
thus proving the existence of the 
Companyôs coat of arms at that early date.  
 

            Arms of the Honourable Artillery Company.                   Prior to the discovery of the counter-part       
                                                                                                      lease the use of a coat of arms by the                                                                                                     
Company could only be traced as far back as 1629, when it was used as the frontispiece of a 
military work. From the shape and size of the seal it is probable that the coat of arms then 
consisted simply of the lion of England on a cross of St George, and that the feathers and 
portcullis on a blue chief were added at a later date as an ñaugmentation of honourò. 
 
The 14th century saw the rise to fame of the English long bow as a potent weapon. To facilitate 
the training in the use of the longbow, Finsbury Park and Moorfields became the foremost 
locations for the archers. Archery became of such fundamental importance to the English army 
that Edward III by the Statute of Winchester made it compulsory for every male between the 
ages of 15 and 60 to provide themselves with arms according to their quality. This Statute didnôt 
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seem to have the desired effect because in 1363 a proclamation in the City required the men to 
practice archery in their leisure time and on holidays and forbade them  from playing handball, 
football, bandyball, cambuch and cockfighting, ñor suchlike vain plays, which had no profit in 
themò. Failure to comply was imprisonment. In 1512 an Act of Parliament was passed to 
enforce the Statute of Winchester and in 1514 another Act was passed to ban tennis-play and 
bowls ñéwhich only lead to murder and robberiesò.   
 
It was King Henry III who ordered 
the Lord Mayor of London to 
provide a body of armed, disciplined 
men for the defence of the City. 
Such men were selected, armed 
and warned to muster ñat the tolling 
of St Paulôs bellò. It was also in 
Henryôs reign that the famous 
ñMarching Watchò was initiated. 
Generally it consisted of up to 2 000 
armed men, clothed in white fustian, 
with the arms of the City on the 
back and breast, who marched 
through the City on the vigils of St 
John the Baptist and St Peter. Over 
time the event became ever-more 
popular reaching its zenith in 1510 
when King Henry VIII made a 
special visit to the City to watch the 
parade. It was lit by 940 cressets 
borne high on poles. The Lord 
Mayor was attended by a giant and 
two pages on horseback, followed 
by a procession of archers, (honest 
persons with bows and arrows 
cleanly harnessed and arrayed in 
jackets of white with the arms of the 
City), pikemen, billmen, and halberdiers, with a body of demi-lances in bright armour. It was the 
cost of putting on such a display that the Watch was eventually stopped sometime in the reign 
of Edward VI.       
 
The suppression of the monasteries caused unrest throughout the country and the King, Henry 
VIII, placed great reliance on the loyalty of the City. And so it was that in 1537 he set his Great 
Seal to the Charter which incorporated for all time the Guild or Fraternity of Artillery, for the 
defence of the realm by the maintenance of ñthe Science and Feate of Shootingeò with longbow, 
crossbow and handgun. The members of the Guild were men of substance, recruited from the 
wealthier classes and this is reflected in the privilege of them being permitted to wear silk and 
velvet, furs and embroideries.  
 
It has been mentioned that early in the sixteenth century the Company acquired the lease to the  
Old Artilley Ground in Bishopsgate. In the lease the Company is referred to by its Charter title of 
ñMaysters Rulers and Comynalitie of the Fraternitye or Guylde of Artyllary of longbowes 
Crossbowes and handgonnesò. The ground was let for three consecutive terms of 99 years at a 
yearly rent of twenty shillings with a fine of forty shillings if the rent remained in arrears for three 
consecutive months. Two years after their incorporation on the 8th May 1539, a great procession 
took place at 6 oôclock in the morning when the citizens of London gathered in the fields from 
Whitechapel to Mile End and from Bethnal Green to Stepney. They were then inspected to 



check that they each had a sword and dagger and that each were ñclenely hosed and shoddeò 
in white. 15,000 picked men entered the City at Aldgate and marched to Westminster where 
they were reviewed by the King and returned via St Jameôs Park, Holborn and Chepe. At the 
head of the procession were cannon mounted on carts followed by hand-gunners, bowmen, 
pikemen and billmen. As the musketeers passed the King they saluted him with volleys and the 
great guns were drawn up and ñshotte very terribly in divers places and especially before the 
King.ò      
 
Archery was still a popular part of military training in the mid sixteenth century, and competitions 
between the various  groups within the Company and other Trained Bands . Accounts still exists 
detailing some of these archery competitions. One such account tells of 3,000 London archers 
taking part in a competition at Hodgsonôs Field in Shoreditch in 1583. The victors were led off 
the field mounted on horses and attended by 200 torchbearers.  
 

It is interesting to note that surprisingly the 
Company known today as The Honourable 
Artillery Company, has since its Royal 
Charter of 1537 been known by many 
names. It could have been expected that 
with the receipt of a Royal Charter the group 
would have agreed on a name by which they 
would be known for evermore. There are too 
many names to mention here but a few are 
given as it is interesting to see the variety of 
names used for essentially the same 
Company. As mentioned earlier, in their 
Charter of 1537 they were addressed as  
ñMaisters and Rulers and Cominalitie of  the 

Fraternie or Gulyde of Artillary of Lonbowes, 
Crosbowes and Handegonnesò. In 1544 in 
the Accounts of Roger Highme, Collector of 
the Rents to King Henry VIII they are listed 
as ñMaster & Governors of the Gunners, in 
1587 in the Roll of Thomas Lant, they are 
the ñCyttizens of London practised in 
Armesò.  John Stow in 1588 calls them 
ñCaptaines of the Artillery Gardenò. Other 
names include, ñSocietie of Cittizens of 
London practizinge Armes and military   

Members of The Honourable Artillery Company escorting    disciplineò (1616), ñGentlemen of the Artillery 
  the Lord Mayor of London in 1996.                         Gardenò (1623), ñVoluntary Company of the    
                                                                                 Artillery  Gardenò (1623) and ñAncient    
and Worthy Society exercising Armes in the Artillery Gardenò (1647). It was Lieutenant-Colonel 
Richard Elton who first used the title of Honourable Artillery Company when he addressed them 
as such in the third edition of his book, óThe Compleat Body of the Art Military (very delightful 
and profitable for all Noble and Heroick Spirits)ô. It was dedicated to the President, Vice-
President, Treasurer, and the rest of the Court of Assistants of the Ancient and Honourable 
Artillery Company of London. The date was 1668. 
 
At the outbreak of the Civil War both sides enlisted as many fighting men as they could. In 
London both parties started summoning the Trained Bands to their assistance. The only 
reasonably efficient trained band was the Artillery Company. They were the reserve on which 
Parliament depended in all emergencies and therefore it is hardly surprising to find that the 
majority members of the Company supported the Parliamentary side. In the twelve months 



period leading up to the start of the War membership of the Company increased by nearly 300. 
The following year another 150 joined but thereafter recruiting virtually stopped, only one new 
member was enrolled in 1664. From that year onwards, due to the complete lack of records, it is 
assumed that the Companyôs normal activities ceased during the latter stages of the War. Not 
until 1655 did the Lord Mayor of London and Commissioners of the Militia apply to Oliver 
Cromwell for leave ñéto revive the power of the Artillery Company, for the better disciplining of 
the Citizens, whereby they might, upon any emergency, be enabled to act together for his 
defenceò. Oliver Cromwell agreed and appointed Major-General Skippon as Captain-General.  
 
Mention has been made of the lack of records for the early history of the Company. The reason 
for this deficiency can be found in the first Minute Book of the Court of Assistants. It seems that 
in order to protect the valuables and archives of the Company from the ravages of War,  they 
were put in the hands of the Treasurer of the Company, Lieutenant-Colonel William Manby for 
safe keeping. After the war ended the Company requested the return of their property, which 
consisted of plate, money, arms, books and papers. Manby refused to give them up, his reason 
why is not noted except that there is a hint that he did not consider the Company, as 
reconstituted, to be the legal successors of the original Company of which he was Treasurer. 
He ignored all requests, orders and threats. The Company tried every possible means to 
recover their property including obtaining summonses to appear in  Court before the Militia 
Committee; a Bill in Chancery was tried in vain; petitions to the Lord Protector, to the Committee 
of Parliament, and later, to Charles II all to no effect. The archives of the Company which 
probably went back to the time of the Charter have never  been recovered and it is presumed 
that they were destroyed, probably in the Great Fire of London. Among the documents lost was 
the original lease of the Artillery Ground. 
 
On the death of Oliver Cromwell in 1658,  the Court of Assistants of the Company offered their 
services to provide an escort at the Lord Protectorôs funeral. The Militia Committee accepted the 
offer believing the Trained Bands being too numerous. A summons was sent out to all members 
of the Company: 
 
      Sr: 
  You are desired to appeare on Tuesday morninge the 9th of this instant att eight of the Clocke 
in the Artillery Garden compleately armed and habited with a black feather to march from 
thence to attend the funerall of his late Highnes Oliver Lord protector and not to fayle in any of 
the premises as you tender the honor of the  Cittie & Company. 
 
Also sent were the following orders: 
 
    Major Randal & Capt: Best are desired to speake to the Haroulds (Heralds) to knowe ye tyme 
of ye Companys Comeinge to attend ye funerall & the place where they shall drawe upp. 
    Ordered that the Leading Staffe & Partison the heads bee covered with Sipress (cypress) and 
yt a ribbon bee provided for the Collours.  
    Ordered that there bee 10 Drums and Fifes and that the Treasurer of this Compamy doe 
provide blacke bayes (baize) for the coveringe of them. 
 
On the restoration of the monarchy in the form of Charles II, a general pardon was granted to all 
who had taken up arms against the kingós father excepting those individuals involved in the trial 
and execution of the late king. A number of the members of the Company were included in 
these exceptions. Those who signed the death warrant included Colonels John Venn and 
Thomas Pride who both died before the restoration. Colonel John Barkstead was executed, 
Colonels Robert Tichborne and Edmond Harvey were imprisoned for life, and Colonel Owen 
Roe was sentenced to death but died in the Tower of London. William Goffe, and Colonels 
Issac Pennington and John Hewson fled the country. Of those present at the trial, Colonel 
Daniel Axtell, Captain of the Guard was executed; John Cooke, Solicitor, and Edward Denby, 



Sargeant of Arms escaped. Colonel Thomas Atkins and Rowland Wilson had been appointed 
by Cromwell to serve on the Court but like Philip Skippon had refused to have anything to do 
with it.     

To be continued . 
 

++++++++++++++++ 
 
Two Portuguese Armorials 
 

1755 is not a year that readily comes to 
mind when one thinks of notable dates. 
In fact in the time line in óThe Times 
Complete History of the Worldô the only 
event listed for that year is that under 
Asia, ñAlaungpaya founds Rangoon and 
reunites Burma (to 1824)ò. It is 
remarkable that an event that occurred 
that year in Europe on All Saints Day 
and out of which saw the birth of the 
science of Seismology is not considered 
to be significant enough to be 
mentioned.  
 
It was approximately just before 9.45am 
on the 1st November 1755 that an 
earthquake measuring 8.5 to 9 on the 
Richter scale occurred in the Atlantic 
Ocean some 125-175 miles south of 
Lisbon. This can be compared with the 
earthquake that hit Haiti in January this 
year which measured 7.0 on the Richter 
scale. The main tremor was followed 
minutes later by two major aftershocks 
and  were felt right across Portugal, 
Spain and Morocco. An hour later three 
successive tsunami waves roared up the 
Tagus estuary completely devastating   
 the city and sweeping everything caught            

       The Royal Arms of Portugal from The Book of Nobility.            in its path along with it. The effects of  
                                                                                        the tsunamis were felt  as far apart as 
Ireland and the West Indies. But it was Lisbon, the nearest major city to the earthquakesô 
epicentre that bore the brunt of the devastation. Being All Saints Day, candles had been lit in 
the churches and the cathedral. As a consequence the earthquake and resulting tsunamis was 
followed by fire which raged out of control for over a week destroying anything that had survived 
the earthquake itself. The number of people who lost their lives is still uncertain. In the early 
20th century a meticulous study was carried out by Francisco Luiz Pereira de Sousa who 
estimated the death toll in Lisbon to be in the order of 30,000 to 40,000. In the rest of Portugal, 
Spain and Morocco the death toll was put at a further 10,000. 
 
It was the lower part of the city that suffered the most. The River Palace, the Customs House, 
and the High Court were reduced to rubble as was the palace of the Inquisition.  The cathedral 
was gutted by fire, the opera house collapsed and many noblesô houses were completely 
destroyed. The cultural losses are incalculable. The magnificent collection of over 200 paintings 
including  works by Titian, Correggio, and Rubens which were held in the Annunciada Palace, 



the home of the Counts of 
Ericeira, were lost. The third, 
fourth, and fifth counts were all 
avid book collectors and by 1744 
the library in the palace 
numbered over 18,000 volumes 
together with the family archives. 
Priceless maps, globes, 
navigational charts and other 
documents were irretrievably 
damaged by the floods and fire. 
However, perhaps the greatest 
loss of all was so many 
irreplaceable records of 
Portugalôs maritime and 
colonising past. 
 
Portugalôs genealogical and 
heraldic records also suffered 
great loss in the destruction of the 
House of Nobility. Here were kept 
the óCartório da Nobrezaô (records 
of the nobility).Fortunately two 
important rolls of arms have come 
down to us pre-dating the 
earthquake, presumably because 
they were not in Lisbon at the 
time. They are of great interest 
because they were produced in 
the period known as the óGolden 
Ageô; that period when the                  A page from the Armerio-Mor. The arms of India Major and India 
Portuguese seafarers were explor      Minor are the attributed arms of Prester John. 

-ing the west coast of Africa and   
eventually discovering the route around the Cape of Good Hope. They then pushed on round to 
the east side of the continent to Mozambique and on to India, Japan and China. They also 
crossed the Atlantic to discover and colonised Brazil. Further north they were some of the 
earliest visitors to Newfoundland which had recently been rediscovered by John Cabot in 1497. 
Very profitable trade routes were opened up which brought prosperity to the country.  
 
Whilst on their exploration of Africa and India they also looked out for and made enquiries about 
that  elusive legendary figure, óPrester Johnô. In 1165 a letter reportedly written by Prester John 
(Presbyter Johannes) Emperor of Byzantium, was circulating round the capitals of Europe. óI am 
the lord of Lordsô, the letter said. óUnder heaven, I surpass in riches and virtue and power all 
other kings upon the whole earth.ô  He claimed that seventy-two kings were subject to him. óOur 
magnificence dominates the three Indias and extends Farther India ... There is none to equal us 
in riches or in the number of our subjectsô. Great efforts and resources were put in to locating 
this King of kings, but alas without success. 
 
The names of these great  seafaring explorers, Cõa, da Gama, Magellan and Cabral to name 
but a few, live on in monuments raised in their honour. They also live on in two great 
Portuguese Roll of Arms, the óArmeiro-Morô  and óThe Book of Nobility. On their return from their 
travels they received many privileges and honours, including a grant of arms if they were not 
already armigerous or an augmentation of honour to their arms as in the case of Vasco da 
Gama. It may well be due to this increase in the nobility, that caused Manuel I to decide to have 



a new roll of arms drawn up to record the 
new arms being granted.  He gave his 
Portugal King of Arms, a Frenchmen 
named Jean du Cros, the task of drawing 
up the roll. It took Cros over three years to 
produce, starting in February 1506 and 
completing it in August 1509.  
 
The roll was produced in book form and 
was called the óLivro do Armeiro-Morô. It is 
also known as the óLivro das Armas, (Book 
of Arms), and the óLivro Grande (Great 
Book).  It was for the personal use of the 
king who took a great interest in heraldry. It 
was unfortunate that a roll of arms 
produced by a King of Arms contained 
numerous errors which must have irked 
Manuel. Eight years later he commissioned 
another roll of arms and gave specific 
instructions that it was to  correct the errors 
in the Armeiro-Mor. Interestingly he didnôt 
give the task to his heralds but to a 
nobleman in his court, one Antonio 
Godinho. 
 
Portugal King of Arms followed a well 
trodden path in compiling his óGeneralô roll 
of arms. Before showing the main body                         Bertrand du Guesclin from the Armeiro-Mor 

 
of arms it was usual to start with the kings and  
emperors, both real and fictional, of the known 
world. The Nine Worthies were also          
sometimes included. In the Armeiro-Mor, du 
Cros not only included Christian, Moorish and 
Gentile kings, forty-nine in all, but also the 
figures and arms of the Nine Worthies, the 
figures and arms of the seven electors of the 
Emperor as well as the figures and arms of the 
twelve óPairs de Franceô, the great Peers of 
France. 
 
It was Jean de Longuyon in his óVoeux du Paonôô 
who introduced the Nine Worthies. The nine 
consisted  of Josuha, David and Judas 
Maccabaeus representing the Champions of 
Chivalry of the Old Law (Jews); Hector, 
Alexander, and Julius Ceasar, the three 
Champions of the Pagan Law (Pagans) and 
Arthur, Charlemagne, and Godfrey de Bouillon, 
the three Champions of the new Christian Law, 
(Christians).  In France the great constable 
Bertrand du Guesclin was accorded the position   

The Margrave of Brandenburg  from the Armeiro-Mor     of the tenth worthy and it can be no surprise that      



since the Armeiro-Mor was produce by a    
 Frenchmen we find the figure of de 
Guesclin tacked on at the end. 
Interestingly the arms shown with the 
figure are not du Guesclinôs arms. He bore 
a double-headed eagle with a bendlet as 
can be seen on the magnificent equestrian 
statue of him in his home town of Dinan in 
Brittany and on his tomb memorial in St 
Denis, Paris. 
 
At least from the thirteenth century the 
Holy Roman Emperor was effectively 
elected by seven electors. The spiritual 
electors were the Archbishop of Mainz, the 
Archbishop of Trier and the Archbishop of 
Cologne. They held the office of Arch-
chancellor of Germany, Gaul and 
Burgundy respectively. The lay members 
comprised the King of Bohemia, who held 
the office of cupbearer; the Count Palatine 
of the Rhine was the seneschal, the Duke 
of Saxony was the marshal and the Mar- 
grave of Brandenburg, the Chamberlain. In 
the Armeiro-Mor they are all depicted 
holding symbols of their office together 

   A page from the Armeiro-Mor. The arms are the Marquis       with their arms.  
   of  Vila Real, Braganza, the Count of Penela and   
   Noronha                                                                                   The Pairs de France were originally twelve 
                                                                                                   in number; six ecclesiastical peers and  six  
lay peers. Instead of holding symbols of office they hold symbols of their role in the coronation 
of the king. The ecclesiastical peers were the Archbishop-Duke of Reims, the premier peer. He 
anoints and crowns the king. The Bishop-Duke of Laon bore the ampulla, the Bishop-Duke of 
Langres bore the sceptre, the Bishop-Count of Beauvais bore the royal mantle, the Bishop-
Count of Châlons bore the royal ring, and  the Bishop-Count of Noyan, bore the belt. The six lay 
peers were the Duke of Normandy who holds the first banner, the Duke of Burgundy, who was 
premier lay peer bears the crown and fastens the belt,  the Duke of Guienne or Aquitaine, holds 
the second banner,  the Count of Flanders was the sword bearer, the Count of Champagne was 
the Royal standard bearer, and the Count of Toulouse carried the spurs. 
 
 After the Peers de France is the main body of the work, which begins with the arms of King 
John II (1455-1495) and his cousin Manuel I (1469-1521), who succeeded him to the throne. 
Underneath their arms are on lozenges, the arms of their respective wives. John II was married 
to Eleanor, daughter of Ferdinand, Duke of Viseu. Unusually the label on Eleanorôs arms have 
only two pendants, each charged with the arms of Sicily. These were the arms of her great 
grandfather, Ferdinand I, King of Aragon and Sicily.  Manuelôs wife at the time of the compilation 
was Maria, daughter of Ferdinand V of Castile and II of Aragon.  She was Manuelôs second 
wife, his first being Isabella, who died in 1498, and was an elder sister of Maria.  
 
Each folio consists of four shields, there being nearly 300 shields in total. It is not possible to go 
into any great detail of the arms but a number of interesting points can be mentioned. Firstly, no 
crests or supporters are shown. With the exception of the kingsô arms all the shields hang 
couché from the interior of the helm by a belt. The two monarchs, the óPrincipeô or heir to the 
throne, (the future John III), the Duke of Braganza, the Duke of Coimbra and the Marquis de 



Corte Real all have coronets as befits their rank whilst the rest of the shields have helm, 
mantling and wreath. 
 
Diapering is prominent to the point of being excessive. Diapering is a way of bringing interest to 
an area of a single tincture. It should be delicate and not heavily patterned. In comparison, the 
diapering in the shields in óThe Book of Nobilityô, which we shall discuss later is much more 
refined. The final hundred and forty-four shields are completely different from the rest of the 
book. They are shown couché hanging from a ribbon which is hooked over a nail in the wall. 
Only the shield is depicted, the helm, mantling and wreath being omitted. Presumably these are 
of the lesser nobles or óFidalgosô as they were called. The artwork is competent but lacks flair 
and is unexciting. In contrast the óBook of Nobilityô is a positive delight and we shall now turn our 
attention to this masterpiece. 
 
As was mentioned at the beginning of this article Manuel I was not entirely happy with the 
Armeiro-Mor. It contained many errors, particularly elementary ones such as having colour on 
colour. Sometime prior to 7th March 1517, we donôt know exactly when, the king commissioned 
Antonio Godhino, a nobleman and guard of the bedchamber to compile a Book of  Nobility to 
correct the errors in the rules of armory observed in the  Armeiro-Mor. So far as is known 
Antonio Godhino did not hold any office within the body of the officers of arms and it is rather 
surprising to find him frequently involved in drawing up charters, grants, patents and petitions 
for the kingôs consideration and 
signature. He also acted in the 
kingôs name as an inquisitor 
into the evidence of petitioners 
for grants of arms. 
 
 It must have been rather 
embarrassing for Portugal King 
of Arms to have his work 
revised by someone who was 
not a herald by training. Clearly 
the work Godinho had done as 
inquisitor and clerk had  
impressed the king. Being also 
a guard of the bedchamber he 
was one of the very few people 
allowed in the inner sanctum of 
the kingôs chambers. The kingôs 
choice was a good one 
although not perfect. The Book 
of Nobility is considered by 
many to be the zenith of 
Portuguese heraldic art. 
Although artistically  superior to 
the Armeiro-Mor it did not 
completely meet the kingôs 
instructions. Certainly, a 
number of the errors were 
corrected but some were not. 
What Manuel thought of the 
book is not known as he died        A page from the Armeiro-Mor with the arms of Diogo Cão. Two columns, 
before the book was completed.   each on a mound with a cross on top represents the pillars (padrão) 

Godinho started work on his         that he erected to show the limits of his travels.  


